### 9th Circuit No. 10-55879 \$199639

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA En Banc

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT,

FILED

JUN - 4 2012

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

MICHAEL GARCIA, AN INDIVIDUAL

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

## OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

DIANE H. PAPPAS, #102855
Associate General Counsel
DONALD A. ERWIN, #194517
MAMPRE R. POMAKIAN, #197606
Assistant General Counsel
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL
LOS ANGELES UNIF. SCH. DIST.
333 S. Beaudry Avenue, 20th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Telephone: 213.241.7600
Facsimile: 213.241.3311
Attorneys for Petitioner
LOS ANGELES UNIFIED

SCHOOL DISTRICT

#### II. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Under the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA"), the federal government allocates funds to the states and, in exchange, the states agree to provide special education services to disabled students.

The IDEA provides that in some circumstances even jailed adult inmates are eligible to receive special education services.

However, the IDEA does not delineate which public agency is required to provide these services to jailed adult inmates.

Rather, the IDEA regulations explain that the federal government leaves it to the states to decide how the services will be implemented. *Analysis of Comments and Changes to 2006 IDEA Part B Regulations*, 71 Fed. Reg. 46686 (2006).

In this case, a jailed adult inmate (Plaintiff Michael Garcia) sought special education services, and initially filed suit against the California Department of Education ("CDE") and various other agencies, but not against his former school district the Los Angeles Unified School District ("LAUSD"), demanding that he be provided the services in jail.

There is no California statute that expressly delineates which California agency must provide services to jailed inmates.

In a related class action filed by Garcia against the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department and other public agencies, the CDE openly acknowledged that there is a gap in the statutory framework, leaving responsibility for jailed inmates unaddressed, as follows:

# [By Counsel for CDE]

Yes, unfortunately, no one thought about inmates being transferred from juvenile hall, where they get all of the benefits, into an adult jail setting where special education -- there is no provision for it. But as soon as we heard about it, we took action and we got Mr. Garcia his benefits, and we are working on the others.

\* \* \*

It's that the law, in itself, didn't come down quite this far and the I.D.E.A. didn't anticipate. We [have] laws for inmates of prisons and the prisons have to provide that.

We have them for under 18. This niche, the Legislature didn't see, and we're fixing it.

\* \* \*

But it comes down to the issue as who's going to pay for it in an interim period until we can get something legislative or some clarification of who should be paying for this.

ER<sup>1</sup> at 24, 25, 26, 27. [Transcript of April 21, 2010 hearing on motion for class action certification at 29:20-25, 48:23-49:2, and 10:5-15.]

In a very similar situation in Arizona, the Arizona Department of Education likewise overlooked the provision of special education services to inmates in county jails, leading to the filing of class action lawsuit against the Arizona Department of Education. (Doe v. Arizona Department of Education, 111 F.3d 678 (9th Cir. 1997).)

The Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ultimately dismissed the Arizona lawsuit on exhaustion grounds when the Arizona Department of Education explained that, once the oversight had been brought to its attention, the Department had remedied the problem by providing services:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "ER" refers to the District's Excerpts of Record, as filed in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

The heart of Doe's case is that the Department of Education gave no attention to children with disabilities detained at the Pima County Jail. For this reason, he says, the class went unserved for several months, receiving neither notice nor hearing before being deprived of educational services.

\* \* \*

For its part, the Department acknowledges that there was a period of time that Doe was not served, because it did not know that juveniles were housed in adult jails. Yet it points out that once it became aware that juveniles with special education needs were housed at the Jail, it tried to ensure that identification processes, evaluation, notification, and required special education services were provided in accordance with the IDEA. Thus, the Department suggests, its original failure to address Doe's needs was not inherent in its program but was rather due to an oversight that was remedied notice: exhaustion would therefore, have been futile or inadequate.

\* \* \*

Once alerted to its oversight by the lawsuit (and there is no indication that it could not have been told just as effectively by letter, or resort to the administrative process), the Department took steps to begin to remedy it. Thus, unlike the parties in *Heldman [Heldman v. Sobol*, 962 F.2d 148, 159 (2d Cir. 1992)], *Doe* and the *Department* aren't at odds over issues of law or policy: the Department isn't arguing that it was right to let the Jail slip through the cracks.

Id., at 680, 682.

The Court of Appeals in *Doe v. Arizona*, *supra*, noted that (unlike California), Arizona's education statutes expressly cover county jails:

Arizona's education statutes cover county jails. Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-765 (students in county correctional facilities "are responsibility" of the facility); id. § 15-913.01 (every county jail "shall offer an education program" consistent with the IDEA); see Ariz. Admin. Code § R7-2-401 (defining "public agency" under IDEA as a "political subdivision of the state which is responsible for providing education to handicapped children"). Doe suggests that the Pima County Jail is not included in the definition of "public agency" and that no interagency agreement exists to force compliance by the Sheriff. However, under Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-765(A), the Jail assumes "responsibility" for the special education of children who previously were receiving special education.

Id., at 683.

Specifically, Arizona Revised Statutes, § 15-765, entitled, "Special education in rehabilitation, corrective or other state and county supported institutions, facilities or homes," provides as follows:

§ 15-765. Special education in rehabilitation, corrective or other state and

county supported institutions, facilities or homes

A. For the purposes of this section and section 15-764, children with disabilities who are being provided with special education in rehabilitation, corrective or other state and county supported institutions or facilities are the responsibility of that institution or facility, including children with disabilities who are not enrolled in a residential program and who are being furnished with daily transportation. Special education programs at the institution or facility shall conform to the conditions and standards prescribed by the director of the division of special education. . . .

In contrast, there is no California statute that explains how special education services are to be provided in county jails.

In the absence of such a provision, the California Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH") took the position that a general California Education Code provision enacted in 1997 – Education Code § 56041 – should be read to impose the requirement for providing special education services on the school district in which a jailed inmate's parents resided at the time the jailed inmate turned 18 years of age.

It is the OAH's construction of § 56041 that ultimately is at issue in this case.

Education Code § 56041 provides as follows:

Except for those pupils meeting residency requirements for school attendance specified in subdivision (a) of Section 48204, and notwithstanding any other provision of law, if it is determined by the individualized education program team that special education services are required beyond the pupil's 18th birthday, the district of residence responsible for providing special education and related services to pupils between the ages of 18 to 22 years, inclusive, shall be assigned, as follows:

- (a) For nonconserved pupils, the last district of residence in effect prior to the pupil's attaining the age of majority shall become and remain as the responsible local educational agency, as long as and until the parent or parents relocate to a new district of residence. At that time, the new district of residence shall become the responsible local educational agency.
- (b) For conserved pupils, the district of residence of the conservator shall attach and remain the responsible local educational agency, as long as and until the conservator relocates or a new one is appointed. At that time, the new district of residence shall attach and become the responsible local educational agency.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The IDEA allows states to decide whether to provide special education services directly to adult students in county jails, or

whether to assign this responsibility to local educational agencies such as school districts.

- 2. California has not expressly assigned to school districts the responsibility for providing special education services to eligible adult students in county jails.
- 3. It is highly unlikely that the Legislature intended for Education Code § 56041 to implicitly govern the provision of special education services to county jail inmates because:
- a. Whenever in the Education Code the Legislature has assigned responsibility for special education services outside of a school district setting, it has done so in an express and thoughtful manner.
- b. The legislative history does not support a finding that § 56041 applies. Rather, the legislative history reflects that the limited purpose of § 56041 was to maintain interagency funding obligations when a student, placed by one school district, turns 18 and would otherwise be the funding responsibility of a new district that was not involved in the initial educational placement decision.
- 3. OAH's proposed construction would lead to absurd results and would be impractical to implement. For example, If

OAH's construction were accepted, a school district in Sacramento could be responsible for providing special education services 500 miles away in San Diego to a student residing in Sacramento but who committed a crime in San Diego.

- 4. In Education Code §§ 1900 through 1909.5, 41840 through 41841.8, and 46191, the California Legislature expressly authorized the establishment of education services in California jails. Under this program, county boards of education are authorized to provide regular (non-special education) services to students in jail. Given these provisions, it seems highly unlikely that the Legislature, on the one hand, enacted separate statutes for regular education services in county jails yet, on the other hand, allowed a general statute (i.e., Education Code § 56041) that nowhere references education in jails, to apply with respect to education for jailed disabled students.
- 5. The Legislature has plenary authority to resolve the issue by enacting legislation, assigning responsibility for the provision of special education students in county jails. The legislative process will allow all stakeholders including parents, disability rights groups, school districts, jails, county offices of education, and the

California Department of Education – to forge a solution in an open and transparent manner.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. Glossary Of Persons, Organizations, And Terminology Relevant To Appeal

#### 1. Persons

Fuentes, Yamileth – Yamileth Fuentes is the mother of Michael Garcia. ER at 48. [AR<sup>2</sup> OAH00146:13-17.]

Garcia, Michael – Michael Garcia was born on June 1, 1990. He was incarcerated in a Los Angeles County Jail where he was being held pending trial on charges against him. ER at 237, 244. [AR OAH 01262; OAH01352.]

## 2. Organizations

California Department of Education ("CDE") – The California Department of Education ("CDE") is a California agency charged with the oversight of California's public education services. (Education Code<sup>3</sup> §§ 33300 et seq. and 56024.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> References to "AR" are to the "Administrative Record" of the due process hearing proceedings held before the California Office of Administrative Hearings. The relevant AR pages are included in the excerpts of record ("ER").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> References in this brief to "Education Code" are to the California Education Code.

County Offices of Education – Each California county has an office of education, overseen by a county superintendent of schools and a county board of education, and charged with certain school functions within that county. (See, e.g., Education Code §§ 1000 et seq., 1200 et seq., and 56140.)

Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH")- The CDE has contracted with the California Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH") to preside over due process hearings held under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA"). ER at 290-304.

CDE pays OAH \$33,517,620 to provide such services. ER at 307.

School")<sup>4</sup> – Soledad Enrichment Action ("Soledad Charter School") is a charter school chartered by the Los Angeles County Office of Education ("LACOE"). Soledad Charter School was the last school in which Garcia was enrolled prior to being incarcerated in Juvenile Hall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Soledad Charter is also known as SEA Southgate. ER at 168.

in 2006. ER at 168. [OAH Decision, Factual Findings ¶¶ 4-5, AR OAH01066.]

State Board of Education – The California State Board of Education consists of 10 members who are appointed by the California Governor with advice and consent of two-thirds of the California Senate. (Education Code § 33000.) The State Board serves as the governing and policy body of the CDE. (Education Code § 33301(a).)

#### 3. Other Terminology

Barry J. Nidorf Juvenile Hall - The Barry J. Nidorf Juvenile Hall (also known as "Sylmar Juvenile Hall") is a juvenile hall in Los Angeles County. ER at 35, 168 [AR OAH 00040:16-21, and OAH01066].

Charter school – In California, a charter school is a school granted a "charter" by a California public agency to provide educational services to public school students in lieu of a regular public school. (See Education Code § 47600 et seq.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Unless otherwise noted, all references in this brief to "Decision" are to the decision of the OAH in the underlying administrative decision in OAH Case No. 2009060442, dated November 16, 2009, which precipitated the instant action.

Compliance complaints — Students and parents may file compliance complaints with the state educational agency (SEA), alleging violations of the IDEA (IDEA is defined below). (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.151-300.153; Education Code §§ 56500.2(a)(1) and 56043(p); California Code of Regulations, Title 5, § 3080(a) (please note that the reference in 3080(a) to 34 C.F.R. § 76.780-783 does not reflect the renumbering of § 76.780-783 as 300.151-153.)

Due Process Hearing Complaint – A due process hearing complaint is a complaint filed pursuant to the IDEA, alleging a disagreement between a parent and a public agency regarding the proposal, or refusal to initiate or change the identification, assessment, or educational placement of a pupil. (See 20 U.S.C. § 1415(f); Education Code § 56501; California Code of Regulations, Title 5, § 3080(b).)

Individualized education program ("IEP") – An individualized education program ("IEP") is a plan prepared under the IDEA, reflecting special education and related services that are to be provided to a student. (20 U.S.C. §§ 1401(14), 1414(d)(1)(A); Education Code §§ 56032 and 56345; California Code of Regulations, Title 17, § 52000(b)(27) and Title 2, § 60010(i).)

IEP team meeting – An IEP team meeting is a meeting held on an annual basis or more frequently, in which a team consisting of school officials, student, and parents evaluates the special education eligibility and needs of a student and makes proposals with respect to services. (20 U.S.C. §1414(c)(1); Education Code § 56341.1(d).)

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA") – Set forth at 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq., the IDEA is the principal federal legislation under the terms of which states receive federal funding in exchange for providing special education and related services to disabled students.

Juvenile court schools – Juvenile court schools are schools operated for students who are incarcerated in juvenile hall. (Education Code § 48645.1.) County boards of education are charged with administration and operation of juvenile court schools. (Education Code § 48645.2.)

Juvenile hall – Juvenile hall is a detention center for minors who have been charged with or who committed criminal offenses under California law. (California Code of Regulations, Title 15, § 1302.)

Local educational agency ("LEA") – A local educational agency or "LEA" is the public board of education of a particular school district that provides administrative control or direction for educational services. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(19); Education Code § 56026.3; California Code of Regulations, Title 5, § 3001(u).)

State educational agency ("SEA") – A state educational agency under the IDEA means the state board of education or other agency or officer primarily responsible for the State supervision of public elementary schools and secondary schools. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(32).)

# B. Course Of Dealings Leading Up To Garcia's Filing Of Due Process Complaint

Garcia was a student enrolled in the LAUSD from elementary school until June 29, 2005, when he was 15 years of age. ER at 167-168, 191 [Decision, Factual Findings ¶¶ 3-4, AR OAH01065-01066; OAH01122].

In second grade, Garcia was found eligible for special education services based on his learning deficiencies. Pursuant to the IDEA and state law, Garcia received special education services from LAUSD while enrolled in LAUSD. ER at 37, 167-168 [AR OAH00042:1-21; Decision, Factual Findings, ¶¶ 3-5, AR OAH01065-01066].

Sometime in 2005, Garcia left LAUSD and enrolled in the Soledad Charter School. ER at 44-45, 168 [AR OAH 00104:23-00105:20; Decision, Factual Findings ¶ 4, AR OAH01066].

While attending Soledad Charter School (chartered by LACOE), Garcia received special education services from the Soledad Charter School. ER at 36, 168 [AR OAH00041:10-25; Decision, Factual Findings ¶ 4, AR OAH01066].

In February 2006, Garcia was arrested and then incarcerated at Barry J. Nidorf Juvenile Hall. ER at 46-47, 168 [AR OAH 00130:23-00131:3; Decision, Factual Findings ¶ 5, AR OAH 01066].

Under California law, county boards of education are responsible for providing special education services for students who are incarcerated in juvenile hall. (See Education Code §§ 48645.2 and 56150.)

Upon Garcia's incarceration at Barry J. Nidorf Juvenile Hall in 2006, LACOE began providing special education services to Garcia. ER at 35-36, 168 [AR OAH00040:11-00041:9; Decision, Factual Findings ¶¶ 5-6, AR OAH01066].

LACOE continued to provide such services to Garcia until June 2008, when Garcia reached age 18. ER at 37-41 [AR OAH00042:22-00046:18].

LACOE records reflect that, when Garcia was in class, he would frequently get out of his seat to make verbal and physical threats towards students and staff, as follows:

"Specific concerns are frequently getting up out of seat to walk around class, and verbal/physical threats directed toward students and staff as reported by his teacher."

ER at 230 [AR OAH01251].

Upon reaching the age of 18 in June 2008, Garcia was transferred to the Los Angeles County Jail ("LACJ"). ER at 169 [Decision, Factual Findings ¶ 10, AR OAH01067].

There is no evidence that any IEP team meeting was held at or near the time of Garcia's departure from juvenile hall. The evidence reflects that the last IEP held for Garcia was held by LACOE on August 24, 2007. ER at 168, 214-229 [Decision, Factual Findings ¶ 6, AR OAH01066; AR OAH01228-01243].

There is no evidence that any IEP team made any finding or recommendation that Garcia receive special education services upon reaching age 18 or while in jail.

The Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department ("LASD") contracts with the Hacienda La Puente Unified School District to provide education services to adult students in county jail. ER at 54-55, 192-213 [AR OAH00513:8-00514:4; OAH01100-01121].

According to Garcia, he did not receive special education services upon his transfer to County Jail commencing in June 2008, nor did he receive any general education services. ER at 42-43, 35 [AR OAH00075:19-00076:18, OAH00040:5-10].

On December 23, 2008, approximately 6 months after being transferred to County Jail, attorneys for Garcia filed a due process hearing complaint against, among others, the California Department of Education (CDE), alleging that the named entities and individuals were responsible for providing special education services to him. ER at 74.

Garcia did not name LAUSD as a respondent in the December 2008 due process hearing complaint. ER at 99-119.

On January 7, 2009, the CDE filed a motion to dismiss the due process hearing complaint, alleging that the CDE is not responsible for providing special education services to adult students in county jails. ER at 73.

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