## SUPREME COURT FILED

#### 9th Circuit No. 10-55879 S199639

JUL 1 2 2012

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA En Banc

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL GARCIA, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Defendant and Appellee.

## ANSWERING BRIEF OF DEFENDANT AND APPELLEE, MICHAEL GARCIA

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 56041 applies to all eligible eighteen to twenty-two year old students in the state of California including those detained in county jails.

1. The IDEA defers to states to determine which school districts and/or other entities may be responsible for providing students' special education and related services. Multiple public agencies may be

responsible for a student's special education and related services pursuant to the IDEA.

- 2. Section 56041 provides that for students eligible to receive special education and related services between the ages of eighteen and twenty-two, the school district where the student's parent(s) reside(s) is responsible for the provision of the student's special education and related services. Accordingly, the Court need only examine the plain language of the statute to conclude that section 56041 applies to children incarcerated in county jails.
- 3. Such plain reading of section 56041 will not lead to absurd results, nor is it impracticable to implement. Rather, a plain reading of section 56041 is consistent with the California Education Code, legislative intent, and past administrative practice and decisions.
- 4. The Court need not wait for the Legislature to resolve this issue but may interpret section 56041 according to its plain meaning.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

As a student with a diagnosed learning disability, Michael Garcia has been eligible for special education for most of his life. ER at 0167-68 (OAH Factual Findings 1, 3); 9th Cir. Supp. R. of Appeal ("SER") at 000015-17 (Testimony of Yamileth Fuentes, Aug. 13, 2009 OAH Hearing ("Fuentes Testimony") at 153:22-155:7). Mr. Garcia first began receiving special education and related services in approximately the second grade.

ER at 0167 (Factual Finding 3); SER 000015-16 (Fuentes Testimony at 153:25-154:7). Mr. Garcia received special education and related services until his transfer to the LACJ on June 19, 2008, shortly after his eighteenth birthday. ER at 0168-69 (Factual Findings 5, 10).

Mr. Garcia grew up living with his mother and siblings in Bell, California, within the boundaries of the LAUSD. ER at 0167 (Factual Finding 2); SER at 000010-11 (Fuentes Testimony at 148:22-149:24). Mr. Garcia's mother, Yamileth Fuentes, has resided in the LAUSD since 1985, five years prior to Mr. Garcia's birth, and continues to reside there. ER at 0167 (Factual Finding 2); SER at 000011-13 (Fuentes Testimony at 149:8-151:2).

Mr. Garcia has a long history of eligibility for special education as a student with a specific learning disability caused by his impaired auditory processing abilities and significant deficits in his expressive and receptive language skills. ER at 0167 (Factual Findings 1, 3); SER at 000016-17 (Fuentes Testimony at 154:14-155:7). A teacher first identified Mr. Garcia's learning difficulties in elementary school and suggested that he be tested for special education.<sup>3</sup> SER at 000015-16 (Fuentes Testimony at 153:22-154:7). Mr. Garcia began receiving special education in 1998,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellee uses the terms special education, special education and related services, and special education services interchangeably. All terms refer to special education and related services as defined by the IDEA. 20 U.S.C. § 1401(26), (29).

when he was in the second grade. ER at 0167 (Factual Finding 3); SER 000015-16 (Fuentes Testimony at 153:25-154:7).

Following his initial assessment, LAUSD provided Mr. Garcia with uninterrupted special education services during his time in the District. ER at 0036-37 (Testimony of Michael Garcia, Aug. 13, 2009 OAH Hearing ("Garcia Testimony") at 40:5-42:21), 0167-0168. LAUSD developed annual and triennial Individualized Education Programs ("IEPs")<sup>4</sup> for Mr. Garcia when he attended school in the District. ER at 0167-68 (Factual Finding 3). After completing eighth grade in LAUSD, Mr. Garcia enrolled in the Soledad Enrichment Action Charter School. ER at 0168 (Factual Findings 3, 4). While at this school, Mr. Garcia continued to receive special education to help him meet his educational goals. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An Individualized Education Program or "IEP" is "a written statement for each child with a disability...that includes...a statement of the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance[;]...a statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals[;]" a statement of how the child will meet these annual goals; a statement detailing the accommodations and modifications the child will receive; a statement setting forth the transition services, as defined in 20 U.S.C. § 1401(34), the child will receive; and a statement detailing the special education and related services the child will receive. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A); 20 U.S.C. § 1401(14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This school is a Los Angeles County Office of Education administered charter school and is referred to as SEA Southgate. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 4).

On February 8, 2006, at the age of fifteen, Mr. Garcia was arrested. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 5). As a juvenile, he was detained at the Sylmar Juvenile Hall in Sylmar, California. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 5). At the school operated on the grounds of Sylmar Juvenile Hall, Mr. Garcia once again received special education and related services.<sup>6</sup> ER at 0035-36 (Garcia Testimony at 41:4-6, 42:22-45:7). On August 24, 2007, Mr. Garcia's IEP team conducted his annual IEP meeting at Sylmar Juvenile Hall School. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 6), ER at 0214-29. Both Mr. Garcia and his mother attended this IEP meeting. ER at 0229. At that meeting, the IEP team determined that Mr. Garcia was still entitled to special education and related services, finding him "eligible for special education and related services under the eligibility categories of specific learning disability and speech and language impairment." ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 6).

However, on June 19, 2008, shortly after his eighteenth birthday, Mr. Garcia was transferred from the Sylmar Juvenile Hall to the LACJ, an adult

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Sylmar Juvenile Hall school is called the Barry J. Nidorf School. ER at 0035 (Garcia Testimony at 40:16-21). Students who are in what are referred to as juvenile court schools, *i.e.*, those schools operated by juvenile halls and camps, are served by County Offices of Education. Cal. Educ. Code § 48645.2. In this case, Mr. Garcia was provided special education services by the Los Angeles County Office of Education during his time in the Juvenile Hall. ER at 0168 (Factual Finding 6); ER 0214-29 (Mr. Garcia's IEP developed by the Los Angeles County Office of Education while he was attending school at Sylmar Juvenile Hall).

correctional facility. ER at 0169 (Factual Finding 10). Upon his detention at the LACJ, when LAUSD's obligation to provide services resumed, Mr. Garcia received no special education or related services. ER at 0169 (Factual Finding 10); *see also* ER at 0043 (Garcia Testimony at 76:1-18).

Mr. Garcia requested educational services by submitting an LACJ inmate complaint form. ER at 0043 (Garcia Testimony at 76:1-18); SER at 000005 (Garcia Testimony at 79:8-15). Further, counsel for Mr. Garcia requested special education and related services from LAUSD on his behalf on February 12, 2009. ER at 0170 (Factual Finding 15). Nevertheless, Mr. Garcia did not receive the special education and related services to which he was (and is) undoubtedly entitled. ER at 0169 (Factual Finding 10), 0170 (Factual Finding 16), 0172-73 (Legal Conclusion 6). Indeed, the OAH found that Mr. Garcia received no special education services between the time he turned eighteen and the time of its November 16, 2009 decision. ER at 0167 (Factual Finding 1), 0169 (Factual Finding 10), 0177 (Legal Conclusion 26).

Due to this lack of services, Mr. Garcia regressed academically and his academic skill levels declined. ER at 0169 (Factual Finding 13), 0257-58. During Mr. Garcia's due process hearing before the OAH, Dr. Carlos A. Flores, a clinical neuropsychologist, testified that Mr. Garcia has a learning disability and that in order to benefit from and access his education

he requires special education, speech and language therapy, and counseling. ER at 0171 (Factual Findings 23-26).

On November 16, 2009, the OAH found Mr. Garcia was eligible for special education services while detained at the LACJ. ER at 0172-73 (Legal Conclusion 6). The OAH also found that LAUSD had denied Mr. Garcia a free appropriate public education ("FAPE"), in violation of California and federal law, by failing to provide him with *any* special education or related services upon his transfer to the LACJ. ER at 0177-79 (Legal Conclusions 26-28, 35-36). Finally, the OAH held that LAUSD had a legal obligation to provide Mr. Garcia with a FAPE during his incarceration in the LACJ and ordered it to provide special education and related services to Mr. Garcia without delay. ER at 0181 (Order No. 2).

Only in January 2010, pursuant to the OAH Order, did Mr. Garcia begin receiving some special education services from LAUSD during his detention at the LACJ. ER at 0181-82 (Order Nos. 2, 3).

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Section 56041 of the California Education Code Dictates the Provision of Special Education and Related Services to Individuals Detained in County Jails
  - A. Under the Plain Language of Section 56041, the District Where a Detained Student's Parent Resides Is Responsible for Providing Special Education and Related Services During the Student's Detention in a County Jail

The IDEA conditions the provision of federal funds on a state's agreement to comply with numerous specific procedures and requirements. 20 U.S.C. § 1412. Foremost among these is the requirement that a state develop policies and procedures to ensure that eligible students between the ages of three and twenty-one receive a FAPE. <sup>7</sup> 20 U.S.C. § 1412(A)(1); 34 C.F.R. § 300.149. A FAPE is "special education and related services that: (A) have been provided at public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge; (B) meet the standards of the State educational agency; (C) include an appropriate preschool, elementary school, or secondary school education in the State involved; and (D) are provided in conformity with the individualized education program." 20 U.S.C. § 1401(9). The IDEA expressly provides that students in adult correctional facilities, such as jails, have a right to receive a FAPE if the students were found eligible for special education and related services prior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A student is entitled to continue receiving special education services until he or she receives a diploma or reaches his or her twenty-second birthday. 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(1); 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.101, 300.102; Cal. Educ. Code §§ 56000(a), 56026.

to their incarceration. 20 U.S.C. § 1412 (a)(1)(B)(ii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.102(a)(2)(ii); see also 34 C.F.R. § 300.2 (the IDEA applies to adult correctional facilities).

The IDEA defers to states to establish a statutory scheme allocating and dividing responsibility for the provision of special education and related services. 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a). Questions as to the education agencies responsible for the provision of services to any particular student are determined under state law. *J.S. v. Shoreline Sch. Dist.*, 220 F. Supp. 2d 1175, 1191 (W.D. Wash. 2002) (citing *Union Sch. Dist. v. Smith*, 15 F.3d 1519, 1525-27 (9th Cir. 1994)). California statutes address this issue by dividing students into two separate groups: those between the ages of six and eighteen, and those over the age of eighteen.

For students between the ages of six and eighteen, sections 48200 and 48204 of the California Education Code allocate and divide responsibility for the provision of education services (including special education and related services). Pursuant to these provisions, as well as certain provisions of the IDEA, school districts are generally responsible for providing a FAPE to those students with disabilities whose parent or parents reside within the district's jurisdictional boundaries. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(2)(A); Cal. Educ. Code §§ 48200, 48204; see also Katz v. Los Gatos-Saratoga Joint Union High Sch. Dist., 117 Cal. App. 4th 47, 57-58 (2004).

Section 56041 of the California Education Code provides a parallel scheme for students between the ages of eighteen and twenty-two.

Specifically, section 56041 provides:

Except for those pupils meeting residency requirements for school attendance specified in subdivision (a) of Section 48204, and notwithstanding any other provision of law, if it is determined by the individualized education program team that special education services are required beyond the pupil's 18th birthday, the district of residence responsible for providing special education and related services to pupils between the ages of 18 to 22 years, inclusive, shall be assigned, as follows:

- (a) For nonconserved pupils, the last district of residence in effect prior to the pupil's attaining the age of majority shall become and remain as the responsible local educational agency, as long as and until the parent or parents relocate to a new district of residence. At that time, the new district of residence shall become the responsible local educational agency.
- (b) For conserved pupils, the district of residence of the conservator shall attach and remain the responsible local educational agency, as long as and until the conservator relocates or a new one is appointed. At that time, the new district of residence shall attach and become the responsible local educational agency. (emphasis added)

In sum, and as a general rule, the district in which the parent(s) of an 18 to 22 year old student reside(s) is the district responsible for providing special education and related services to that student. Cal. Educ. Code § 56041. In the present case, the OAH and the District Court properly applied the plain language of section 56041 to the facts of the instant matter and held that LAUSD—as the district of residence of Mr. Garcia's mother—was responsible for providing special education and related services to Mr.

Garcia during his incarceration in the Los Angeles County Jails. Despite LAUSD's tortured arguments to the contrary, such an interpretation is eminently reasonable.

### B. Because Section 56041 Is Clear on Its Face, the Court Need Not Look Beyond the Plain Language to Determine Its Applicability Here

The Supreme Court has "'stated time and again that courts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there.' When the statutory 'language is plain, the sole function of the courts—at least where the disposition required by the text is not absurd—is to enforce it according to its terms." *Arlington Cent. Sch. Dist. v. Murphy*, 548 U.S. 291, 296 (2006) (citation omitted); *BedRoc Ltd.*, *LLC v. United States*, 541 U.S. 176, 183 (2004) *Moyer v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 10 Cal. 3d 222, 229-230 (Cal. 1973). The District Court agreed in the instant action, stating "the statute [section 56041] is clear enough on its face that the Court [need] not reach the legislative history." ER at 0003.

LAUSD notably does not contend that the language of section 56041 is somehow ambiguous such that the Court should consider the legislative history. Rather, all of LAUSD's arguments center on the false assertion that because section 56041 does not expressly reference county jails, it is somehow "highly unlikely" that the legislature intended for section 56041 to apply to eligible students in county jails. But such an argument ignores

the fact that section 56041 allocates and divides default responsibility for the provision of special education and related services to students between the ages of eighteen and twenty-two who are eligible for such services, with explicit, limited exceptions that LAUSD does not even contend apply here. Although section 56041 does not expressly reference county jails, it need not specifically enumerate the extent of its application. Rather, it specifically references section 48204(a) of the California Education Code for its exceptions, and students detained in county jails are not listed in those exceptions. Thus, this Court can rely solely on the plain language of the section 56041 to find that section 56041 applies to eligible students detained in county jails. Indeed, as the District Court correctly held, "[t]he plain language of Cal. Educ. § 56041 encapsulates incarcerated students."

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